From the Immunological Research Laboratory Center for Molecular Medicine Department of Medicine Karolinska Institutet

Circulating Immune Complexes in Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease

Awder Mustafa



Stockholm 2001

Published and printed by Karolinska University Press Box 200, SE-171 77 Stockholm, Sweden © Awder Mustafa, 2001 ISBN 91-7349-018-0

To My family My father The memory of my mother

CONTENTS

LIST OF PAPERS	6
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
Pathogenesis of atherosclerosis	9
• The normal and atherosclerotic vessel wall	9
• Vascular injury	11
• Mast cells and neutrophils	11
• Infections	12
Autoimmunity in atherosclerosis	13
• Circulating immune complexes (CICs)	13
• Biology of immune complexes (ICs)	16
• Role of complement in clearance of ICs	17
• Complement C4A and C4B	18
 Autoantibodies to modified LDL 	19
 Autoantibodies to cardiolipin 	22
AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY	26
STUDY POPULATION	27
METHODOLOGY	29
• Isolation and quantitative determination of CICs	29
a) Sucrose gradient ultracentrifugation	30
b) Gel filtration	30
c) Precipitation by polyethylene glycol (PEG)	30
• Determination of alimentary antigens in ICs	31

 Analysis of serum lipids and lipoproteins 	31
• Oxidation of LDL	32
• Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	32
• C4 allotyping	33
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	35
• CICs as predictor for myocardial infarction (MI) and coror	nary
atherosclerosis	35
• CICs after MI, in peripheral atherosclerosis and IDDM	37
• Contents of CICs	38
• Complement C4	41
 Autoantibodies as predictor for MI and coronary 	
atherosclerosis	42
• Autoantibodies in IDDM	44
CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVE	46
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	47
REFERENCES	49
PAPERS I-V	

LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to by their roman numerals:

- Mustafa A, Nityanand S, Berglund L, Lithell H, Lefvert AK. Circulating immune complexes in 50-year-old men as a strong and independent risk factor for myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 2000; 102:2576-2581.
- II Mustafa A, Ruotolo G, Ericsson CG, Nilssson J, de Faire U, Hamsten A, Lefvert AK. Role of circulating immune complexes and autoantibodies against modified LDL and cardiolipin in the progression of premature coronary atherosclerosis. Submitted.
- III Mustafa A, Hamsten A, Holm G, Lefvert AK. Circulating immune complexes induced by food proteins implicated in precocious myocardial infarction. *Annals of Medicine* 2001; 33:103-112.
- IV Nityanand S, Truedsson L, Mustafa A, Bergmark C, Lefvert AK. Circulating immune complexes and complement C4 null alleles in patients operated for premature atherosclerotic peripheral vascular disease. *Journal of Clinical Immunology* 1999; 19:406-413.
- V Ahmed E, Nityanand S, Mustafa A, Brismar K, Lefvert AK. Anticardiolipin antibodies and circulating immune complexes in type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: Increased prevalence and relation to vascular complications. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 1999; 115:255-259.

The articles were reprinted with the permission from the respective publisher.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

aCL	Anticardiolipin antibody		
aPL	Antiphospholipid antibodies		
APS	Anti-Phospholipid Syndrome		
apo B	Apolipoprotein B		
BSA	Bovine serum albumin		
β2-GPI	β2-Glycoprotein I		
•			
C1q C3b	Complement factor 1q		
C30 C4	Complement factor 3b		
	Complement factor 4 Null alleles of C4		
C4Q0			
C4A*Q0	Null alleles of C4A		
C4B*Q0	Null alleles of C4B		
CAD	Coronary artery disease		
CHD	Coronary heart disease		
CICs	Circulating immune complexes		
C. pneumoniae	Chlamydia pneumoniae		
CR1	Complement receptor type 1		
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay		
ECM	Extracellular matrix		
HDL	High density lipoproteins		
ICs	Immune complexes		
IDDM	Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus		
IgA	Immunoglobulin A		
IgG	Immunoglobulin G		
IgM	Immunoglobulin M		
LDL	Low density lipoproteins		
MAC	Membrane attack complex (C5b-9)		
MDA-LDL	Malondialdehyde modified low density lipoprotein		
MI	Myocardial infarction		
OxLDL	Oxidatively modified low density lipoproteins		
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis		
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus		
SMC	Smooth muscle cell		
SD	Standard deviation		
TG	Triglycerides		
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein		
vWFAg	von Willebrand factor antigen		
0	<i>b</i> -		

INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis was once thought to be a degenerative disease and an inevitable consequence of ageing. Recent research has shown that it is neither degenerative nor inevitable. Atherosclerosis is best described as a chronic inflammatory disease caused by specific cellular and humoral immune responses (Ross 1993; Ross 1999; Ross and Glomset 1973). The lesions of atherosclerosis occur principally in large and medium-sized elastic and muscular arteries.

The earliest recognizable lesions of atherosclerosis, the so-called fatty streaks, are common in infants and young children (Napoli et al. 1997). This lesion consists of an aggregation of lipid-rich macrophages and T lymphocytes (Stary et al. 1994). Small fibrofatty plaques are common in young adults and extensive atheroma lesions from early middle age on. These lesions increase in number with age.

Despite the knowledge of many risk factors for atherosclerosis, its complications, such as coronary heart disease (CHD) remain the leading cause of death in many developed nations, including the United States and most European nations. In a follow-up (through 1992) of the first U.S. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (1971-1975), having four or five risk factors increased the risk for a CHD event by five times and risk for death by three times (Yusuf et al. 1998). Contrary to old believes the rate is also increasing alarmingly even in developing countries.

This is why there is a great interest in the pathogenic mechanisms of atherosclerosis and its clinical complications. Epidemiological studies have identified several risk factors for atherosclerosis (Table 1). These classical risk factors explain only a part of the epidemiological features of atherosclerotic diseases. Thus, there are likely other factors that increase the risk of atherosclerosis alone or in combination with the classical risk factors.

1 able 1. Classical risk factors for atherosclerosis			
Modifiable	Nonmodifiable		
risk factors	risk factors		
Elevated levels of LDL and VLDL	Age		
Low levels of HDL	Male gender		
Hypertension	Family history of		
Diabetes mellitus	premature atherosclerosis		
Cigarette smoking	-		
Infections			
Elevated levels of homocysteine			
Elevated levels of hemostatic factors, e.g. fibrinogen			
Insulin resistance			
Diet			
Obesity			
Physical inactivity			
Emotional factors			

Table 1. Classical risk factors for atherosclerosis

Additional risk factors for atherosclerosis have been suggested to be circulating immune complexes (CICs) and autoantibodies against cardiolipin (aCL) or other negatively charged phospholipids, oxidatively modified low density lipoproteins (oxLDL), heat shock protein 60/65 and β 2GPI.

Pathogenesis of atherosclerosis

The normal and atherosclerotic vessel wall

The walls of arteries are composed of three well-defined layers called tunics. The layers, from the lumen outward, are tunica intima, tunica media and tunica adventitia. The intima is composed of a single layer of endothelial cells seated on a specialized extracellular matrix (ECM), the basement membrane. The media contains densely packed smooth muscle cells (SMC) arranged in single or multiple layers, surrounded by an ECM of collagen types I and III, fibronectin and chondroitin/dermatan sulphate proteoglycans. The adventitia consists of fibroblasts, SMC, the vasa vasorum and the nerves, all placed in a loose layer of thick bundles of collagen (predominantly type I) and elastic fibres (Wight 1995; Wight 1996).

The atherosclerotic lesion is the most common acquired abnormality of blood vessels. The exact mechanism of atherogenesis is still unclear though there are three components, cholesterol, infection and inflammation enrolled in the genesis of atherosclerosis (Pentikäinen et al. 2000). We appreciate today the importance of these components but we are still ignorant of their interrelations, and do not know which of the three comes first. The pathological processes of atherosclerosis are thought to be initiated by interaction between modified forms of LDL, monocyte-derived macrophages, T cells, and the normal cellular elements of the arterial wall (Glass and Witztum 2001). The recruitment and migration of monocytes and T cells to the arterial intima from blood stream to the vessel wall is believed to be the initial step in atherosclerosis and largely governed by adhesion molecules and chemokines (Hansson and Libby 1996). These inflammatory processes can ultimately lead to the development of complex lesions, or plaques, within the innermost layer of an artery wall. These plaques protrude into the arterial lumen, narrow the vessel lumen and reduce the flow of blood to the tissue/organ it supplies. Plaques that are likely to rupture and stimulate thrombogenesis are termed unstable. Evidence suggest that enzymes released from macrophages eat away at the thin, lipid-rich and foam cell-rich peripheral margins of the plaque, precipating plaque rupture, which in turn leads to thrombosis (Fuster et al. 1992) and results in the acute clinical complication of myocardial infarction (MI) or stroke (Navab et al. 1996; Ross 1999; Steinberg and Witztum 1999).

Vascular injury

Numerous pathophysiologic observations in humans and animals led to the formulation of the response-to injury hypothesis of atherosclerosis. This hypothesis initially proposed that endothelial denudation or dysfunction was the first step in atherosclerosis. The hypothesis states that the protective, inflammatory response followed by the formation of a fibroproliferative response with time and continuing insult may became excessive. Thus, both the inflammation and the fibrous connective tissue proliferation become, in themselves, the disease process (Ross 1999). Possible causes of endothelial dysfunction include elevated and modified LDL; ICs; free radicals caused by cigarette smoking, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus; elevated plasma homocysteine concentrations; infectious microorganisms; and combinations of these factors.

Mast cells and neutrophils

Mast cell and neutrophils have also been proposed to play a role in the disease progression. In the coronary artery, the majority of mast cells are found in the outer layer of adventitia (ten times as many as in the intima) (Stary 1990). Mast cells were recently shown to have accumulated in coronary plaques (Kovanen et al. 1995). Activated mast cells, found in the shoulder region and adventitia of advanced and complicated plaques, secrete enzymes such as neural protease and histamine, which may degrade extracellular matrix, cause rupture of atheromatous plaque and induce acute coronary syndrome (Kaartinen et al. 1994; Kaartinen et al. 1998; Kovanen et al. 1995).

Furthermore, stimulated mast cells release other vasoactive substances, such as prostaglandin D2 and leukotriene C4 that may mediate coronary spasm. Indeed, in atherosclerotic coronary arteries, histamine is a powerful vasoconstrictor (Ginsburg et al. 1984) and the concentration of histamine in the coronary circulation was found to be elevated shortly before coronary spasm in patients suffering from variant angina. It has been shown that histamine released from the degranulated mast cells may reach the media, where it may locally provoke coronary spasm and thus contribute to the onset of MI (Laine et al. 1999). Activation of neutrophils is also detected in patients with unstable angina (Mehta et al. 1989). Neutrophils may have similar roles as mast cells to contribute to the destabilization of the plaques since they release elastase and oxygen radicals that can lead to degradation of the plaque connective tissue (de Servi et al. 1991; Dinerman et al. 1990). Neutrophils have however, not been detected in the lesions.

Infections

Infections are known to increase the blood viscosity, cause hypercoagulability, and influence the serum lipid profile. Seroepidemiological studies have detected a correlation between the incidence of atherosclerotic complications and the presence of infectious microorganisms, *Chlamydia pneumoniae* (*C. pneumoniae*) (Grayston et al. 1993; Linnanmäki et al. 1993; Saikku 1997; Saikku et al. 1988), *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) and cytomegalovirus (Danesh et al. 1997). *C. pneumoniae* is a common pathogen in respiratory infections and has been detected in atherosclerotic lesions (Kuo et al. 1993). It can survive intracellularly in macrophages, which could be important for transportation of *C. pneumoniae* in the human organism (Gieffers et al. 2001). It has been proposed that *C. pneumoniae* aggravates atherosclerosis by activating macrophages to secrete tumor necrosis factor and metalloproteinases (Kol et al. 1998) and/or by eliciting production of antibodies that cause endothelial cytotoxicity (Mayr et al.

1999). In addition, it has been shown that molecular mimicry between proteins of C. pneumoniae and structural proteins of the myocardium can cause autoimmune myocarditis. This mechanism may also result in heart disease in infected individuals (Bachmaier et al. 1999). The presence in the lesions of modified or cross-reactive antigens that are capable of mounting an autoimmune response supports the autoimmune concept of atherosclerosis. Furthermore, antigens maintaining the inflammatory process in the arterial wall must be ubiquitous and be present at young age, explaining the overall prevalence of atherosclerosis even in young people (Stary 1989). However, there are some discordant reports on this subject. No direct evidence has been provided to establish a causative role for *H. pylori* (Folsom et al. 1998) and cytomegalovirus (Kol et al. 1995). In a recent study, infection with C. pneumoniae in mice did not induce atherosclerotic lesions (Caligiuri et al. 2001). Thus, to resolve this discrepancy further studies will be necessary to clarify the association between infectious microorganisms and atherosclerosis in humans.

Autoimmunity in atherosclerosis

CICs

Much interest has been focused on the putative role of autoantibodies and CICs. The term IC denotes a reaction product resulting from the interaction between an antigen and antigen-specific or nonspecific antibody and is used synonymously with antigen-antibody complex. Immune complex formation is a highly efficient mechanism of host defense directed to eliminate the antigen and favor an adequate immune response. Both autoantigens and exogenous antigens can trigger the formation of ICs. If the antigens are foreign, these processes usually benefit the host leading to removal of antigens; if removal fails or they are autoantigens, immune complex formation may become detrimental. Antigens proposed or shown to elicit antibody responses related to atherosclerosis are endothelial surface antigen (Cerilli et al. 1985), sperm components (Clarkson and Alexander 1980), microorganisms (Benditt et al. 1983), lipoproteins (Beaumont and Beaumont 1977; Ho et al. 1976), glycosylated lipoproteins (Witztum et al. 1984), cardiolipin (Hamsten et al. 1986), oxidized lipids (Salonen et al. 1992), structural vessel wall antigens (Gerö et al. 1975; Gudbrandsson et al. 1981) and milk proteins (Annand 1986; Davies et al. 1969). That ICs were possible pathogenic factors in arteriosclerosis was initially suggested by data published by Minick & Murphy, who showed that the induction of chronic serum sickness in rabbits fed a lipid-rich diet resulted in the formation of vascular lesions similar to those seen in human arteriosclerosis (Minick and Murphy 1973). It is clear today, that CICs accelerate atherosclerosis in experimental animals (Wissler et al. 1989). Repeated immunisation of mice with protein antigens leads to the formation of CICs, which in turn causes inflammation of the vessel wall and acceleration of the dietinduced atherosclerotic process (Qiao et al. 1993). The presence of CICs in patients with CAD has been described in several independent investigations (Farrell et al. 1977; Füst et al. 1978; Lefvert et al. 1995; Lopes-Virella et al. 1999; Smith et al. 1983; Versey and Gabriel 1974). Persistence of CICs is however more rare (Steffen et al. 1986). The constituents of the CICs in post-infarction patients are mostly unknown. LDL-containing ICs have been demonstrated in patients with vascular disease and in healthy subjects (Klimov et al. 1985; Salonen et al. 1992; Vaarala et al. 1993). The immunoglobulins isolated from vascular lesions of Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic (WHHL) rabbits and humans recognize oxLDL and are present in lesions as ICs with oxLDL (YläHerttuala et al. 1994). Such ICs can significantly perturb lipoprotein and cholesterol metabolism when incubated with human monocyte-derived macrophages (Gissinger et al. 1991; Griffith et al. 1988; Lopes-Virella et al. 1991).

ICs are found in the circulation and/or other biological fluids of patients with a wide spectrum of diseases, such as autoimmune, infectious and neoplastic disorders (Table 2).

Table 2. Diseases associated with immune complexes

• Autoimmune diseases

RA, SLE, Sjögren's syndrome, periarteritis nodosa, systemic sclerosis, mixed connective tissue disease, Felty's syndrome.

Glomerulonephritis

Exogenous and endogenous antigens

• Neoplastic diseases

Solid and lymphoid tumors

• Infectious diseases

Bacterial:Infective endocarditis, meningococcal infections, disseminated gonorrheal infection, infected ventriculoarterial shunts, streptococcal infection, leprosy, syphilis

Viral: Dengue hemorrhagic fever, cytomegalovirus infection, viral hepatitis B and C, infectious mononucleosis, subacute sclerosing panencephalitis **Parasitic:** Malaria, trypanosomiasis, schistosomiasis, filariasis, toxoplasmosis

• Other conditions:

Dermatitis herpetiformis and celiac disease, ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease, MI, idiopathic interstitial pneumonia, pulmonary eosinophilic granuloma, cystic fibrosis, saccoidosis, multiple sclerosis, myasthenia gravis, uveitis, otitis media, sickle cell anemia, idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura, primary biliary cirrhosis, kidney and bone marrow transplantation, pregnancy, preeclamptic and eclamptic syndrome, Lyme arthritis, steroid-responsive nephrotic syndrome, xanthomatosis, vasectomy, oral ulceration and Behçets syndrome, pemphigus and bullous pemphigoid, IgA deficiency, thyroid disorders, ankylosing spondylitis, diabetes, Henoch Schönlein purpura, cutaneous vasculitis.

Biology of immune complexes

ICs are three-dimensional structures forming a lattice between antigens and antibodies. There are two main types of reactions responsible for the antigen-antibody lattice: antigen-antibody bonds and Fc-Fc interactions.

16 Awder Mustafa

•

Antigens are mostly multivalent i.e. they have multiple antigenic sites, and antibodies have at least two combining sites. Thus, it is possible to have an infinite structure of alternating antigen-antibody bonds. It is now known that the rapid precipitation reaction observed in many antigenantibody systems cannot be explained adequately by the infinite-lattice theory. Experimental data demonstrate that such immediate precipitation is due to Fc interactions. Thus, ICs made with F(ab)2 fragments from IgG precipitate more slowly than complexes made with whole IgG (Møller 1979; Møller and Steensgaard 1979).

Fc-Fc interactions explain the immediate aggregation of complexes in states of antibody excess, at equivalence and even in states of antigen excess. Such interactions facilitate close contact between antigen and antibody and may allow molecular rearrangements that favor the more stable infinite lattice to take place.

There are three possible sites of antigen-antibody interaction and IC formation:

- When structural antigens making up part of the surface of cells or fixed intercellular structures react with antibody, the ICs are essentially fixed at the site of the structural antigen, and whatever inflammation or disease results from such complexes is localized to a very specific site. Goodpasture's syndrome in man is a clinical example.
- When soluble ICs form from secreted or injected soluble antigens reacting with antibodies near the site of release or injection, the injury induced by these ICs tend to be localized. The experimental example of this form of IC injury is the Arthus reaction, and the clinical one is thyroditis in man, in which antibodies to thyroid hormones are formed.

Finally, when soluble antigens in circulation react with antibodies, CICs are formed. Such complexes may be trapped in one or more of the vascular or filtering structures of the body. They are without immunological relationship to their sites of deposits. The classic experimental model of systemic immune complex disease is serum sickness. SLE, glomerulonephritides, vasculitides and rheumatoid arthritis are human immune complex-mediated diseases.

Role of complement in clearance of ICs

Two distinct pathways activate the complement cascade, the classical and the alternative pathways (Lachmann and Peters 1982). The classical pathway is initiated by the binding of C1 molecule to the C1q-binding site in the C_H2 domain of antibody molecules (IgG1, IgG2, IgG3 or IgM) that have reacted with an antigen. The alternative pathway is less selective and initiated by microorganisms and by immunoglobulins (IgG, IgA, IgE) in complexes (Kuby 1994). The major biological function of complement is opsonization, the coating of antigen-antibody complexes and of particulate activators of the alternative pathway with large number of C3b molecules. Opsonization facilitates the clearance of ICs from circulation by binding to receptors specific for C3b (CR1) on the surfaces of various cells. About 95% of CR1 in the circulation in humans are present on erythrocytes. CICs bound to CR1 are transported to the liver and spleen and removed by fixed macrophages. This process prevents the formation of large lattices and immune precipitation. It is now clear that complement can substantially modify Fc-Fc interactions (Schifferli et al. 1986). Thus complement is capable to solubilize a preformed immune precipitate (Miller and Nussenzweig 1975). CR1 can also inhibit full activation of the complement cascade.

Two observations of biologic relevance are worth noting:

- Complement can inhibit the immune aggregation of about 10 times the quantity of ICs that it can solubilize, a reflection of the relative ease of preventing Fc-Fc interactions responsible for the immediate aggregation reaction, as compared with inducing disruption of the lattice.
- The two reactions differ in their inflammatory potential, since inhibition of immune precipitation generates less C3a and C5a, called *anaphylatoxins*, than does solubilization.

Complement C4A and C4B

The fourth complement factor (C4), a three-chain glycoprotein of about 200 kDa molecular weight, is a major protein of the classical pathway of complement activation. C4 plays a central role in modulating the reaction sequence leading to C3 activation (Kuby 1994). The cleavage of C4 by the activated C1 complex leads to the formation of two fragments: a small fragment (C4a) anaphylatoxin and an activated large fragment (C4b). Of particular importance is the covalent binding of the nascent C4b fragment to antibody-coated cells, antigen-antibody complexes and microorganisms (Law et al. 1984). C4 exists as two isotypes, C4A and C4B encoded by separate genes located only 10 kilobases apart within the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class III region on chromosome 6 (O'Neill et al. 1978; Rittner et al. 1975). The MHC class III region also includes genes for C2 and factor B. Both C4 genes are polymorphic with at least 35 alleles, including null alleles at both loci (Hauptmann et al. 1988). The two isotypes C4A and C4B are similar and only a sequence of 4 amino acids in the C4d region located in the α chain is responsible for the major structural and functional differences. C4A products bind more effectively to amino groups as on protein-antigen

complexes, whereas C4B products bind more efficiently to hydroxyl groups and thus to carbohydrate cell surfaces as on microorganisms (Isenman and Young 1986; Law et al. 1984). Thus, the two isotypes are complementary, each showing preference for different sites on acceptors. Complete deficiency of C4 is a rare condition but a relatively high frequency of null alleles of C4A (C4A*Q0) of 5-15% and of C4B (C4B*Q0) of 10-20% are found in the normal population. These null alleles are defined by the heterozygous or homozygous lack of C4A or C4B proteins in the plasma. C4A*Q0 are often associated with autoimmune diseases especially those characterised by formation of ICs. Several studies have shown that SLE patients have an increased prevalence of C4A*Q0. The majority of the cases of complete C4 deficiency presented with SLE and SLE-like diseases. Homozygous C4B deficiency has been reported in IDDM, especially in cases of early onset disease related to virus infection. As the C4B isotype is able to bind more efficiently to membrane surfaces, a reduction in the concentration of this isotype may impair the capacity to eliminate foreign pathogens. This would also explain the observation of increased susceptibility to infection in C4B deficiency (Hauptmann et al. 1988).

Autoantibodies to modified LDL

Lipoproteins, including chylomicrons, VLDL, IDL, LDL and HDL are spherical complexes. They consist of a coat of apolipoproteins, amphophilic phospholipids, unesterified cholesterol, and a core of cholesterol-ester and triglycerides. The main biological function of LDL is to carry serum cholesterol from blood into tissue (Brown and Goldstein 1986). After crossing the capillary endothelium, some LDL bind to LDLreceptors on extrahepatic tissue cells via a special sequence of the apoB-100 (Brown et al. 1981). The highest concentration of LDL receptors

occurs in the liver. This receptor-mediated uptake is tightly regulated: once the cell has obtained the cholesterol it needs, it shuts down LDL receptor synthesis and so prevents intracellular accumulation of cholesterol (Brown, Goldstein 1986). Any excess of LDL particles not taken up by cells is rapidly removed by the lymphatic system, which prevents extracellular accumulation of LDL particles. The fate of LDL particles that enter the arterial intima differs from that in other extrahepatic tissues because the arterial intima is a tissue without blood or lymphatic capillaries. Thus, in the intima there is retention, modification and both intra- and extracellular accumulation of LDL particles and of the lipids they contain (Williams and Tabas 1995). Steinberg and coworkers have formulated the hypothesis that oxidative modification increases the atherogenicity of LDL (Steinberg et al. 1989). This theory is based on the concept that the oxidative modification, which is likely to occur mainly in the artery wall, promotes the uptake and retention of circulating LDL in the vessel wall. It is now well established that oxidative modification of LDL is important and possibly obligatory in the pathogenesis of the atherosclerotic lesion (Witztum 1994). Oxidative modification of LDL makes it susceptible to uptake by the scavenger receptor on macrophages (Steinberg et al. 1989) or by CD36 (Endemann et al. 1993), leading to formation of foam cells. Furthermore, many macrophages in the atherosclerotic lesions of cholesterol-fed rabbits express Fc and C3b receptors (Fowler et al. 1979) which also induce foam cell formation when exposed to ICs containing LDL (Fowler et al. 1979).

Experimental studies show that LDL incubated with arterial endothelial cells or SMCs was converted to a form that was rapidly taken up by macrophages (Henriksen et al. 1981; Henriksen et al. 1982; Henriksen et al. 1983). This cell-mediated modification is indeed oxidative

modification of LDL particles (Morel et al. 1984; Steinbrecher et al. 1984). Macrophages are also capable of oxidative modification of LDL (Steinberg 1997b). Oxidation of LDL can be done in vitro by incubation with metal ions (e.g. copper or iron) and also by malondialdehyde (MDA).

There is now substantial evidence that oxLDL is present in vivo within atherosclerotic but not normal blood vessels.

- LDL isolated from human and animal atherosclerotic lesions, but not from normal arteries have all of the physical, chemical, immunological, and biological properties of oxLDL (Tsimikas and Witztum 2001)
- Atherosclerotic lesions contain immunoglobulins that recognize oxLDL (Ylä-Herttuala et al. 1994)
- Monoclonal antibodies to epitopes of oxLDL immunostain animal and human atherosclerotic lesions (Tsimikas et al. 1999)
- Radiolabeled oxidation-specific antibodies image oxLDL in the artery of live animals (Tsimikas, 1999; Tsimikas, 2000)

Oxidation of subendothelial LDL attracts monocytes, which enter the subendothelium and changes into macrophages, which in turn take up oxidized LDL and form foam cells.

It was recently shown that oxLDL levels in serum correlate with the severity of acute coronary syndromes. The more severe lesions also contain a significantly higher percentage of oxLDL-positive macrophages suggesting that increased levels of oxLDL are related to plaque instability (Ehara et al. 2001). Antioxidant drugs can slow the progression of atherosclerosis in experimental animal models (Kita et al. 1987; Steinberg 1997a; Tsimikas and Witztum 2000).

22 Awder Mustafa

OxLDL is immunogenic in nature and has the ability to induce autoantibody formation (Esterbauer et al. 1992; Mironova et al. 1996; Palinski et al. 1990; Salonen et al. 1992). Concentrations of plasma autoantibodies to oxLDL correlate with both the accumulation and depletion of arterial oxLDL (Tsimikas et al. 1999; Tsimikas et al. 2000). Antibodies binding to MDA-LDL (an epitope on oxLDL) are predictive of the rate of atherosclerotic disease progression (Witztum and Palinski 1996). Several studies suggest that high levels of autoantibodies against oxLDL were predictive of atherosclerosis and its complications (Raitakari et al. 1997), MI (Wu et al. 1997), carotid atherosclerosis (Salonen et al. 1997). However, there are also studies showing no association between autoantibodies to oxLDL and the extent of atherosclerosis (Cherubini et al. 1997; Uusitupa et al. 1996; van de Vijver et al. 1996). Further, immunization of rabbits with oxLDL (Ameli et al. 1996) or with homologous MDA-LDL (Palinski et al. 1995) to raise the concentration of antibodies actually inhibits lesion progression. Thus, the reports on anti-oxLDL are inconsistent and hence their pathophysiological role in atherosclerosis is not yet fully understood.

Autoantibodies to cardiolipin

Antiphospholipid antibodies (aPL) constitute a group of antibodies that bind to anionic phospholipids such as phosphatidic acid (PA), phosphatidylinositol (PI), phosphatidylserine (PS), phosphatidylglycerol (PG), and di-phosphatidylglycerol (cardiolipin). Hughes and Harris described the antiphospholipid syndrome (APS), as a clinical syndrome characterized by aPL, venous and arterial thrombosis, recurrent abortion, and thrombocytopenia (Harris et al. 1987; Hughes 1985). The clinical features of APS may be seen in patients with no other concomitant disease process, the primary APS, or occur in association with SLE or other autoimmune and inflammatory disorders, secondary APS (Hughes and Khamashta 1994). Two methods are currently used to detect aPL, the lupus anticoagulant (LA) test and the ELISA aCL test (Love and Santoro 1990).

aPL in patients with APS may be directed at least in part against plasma phospholipid-binding proteins, such as beta 2-glycoprotein I (β 2 GPI) or prothrombin. These proteins are involved in the control of thrombosis and haemostasis. It is postulated that bound β 2 GPI forms the antigen to which aPL antibodies are directed (McNeil et al. 1990).

 β 2 GPI was found recently in the atherosclerotic plaques (George et al. 1999), and antibodies against it has been suggested to have a role in human atherosclerosis. These antibodies are associated with arterial and venous thrombosis in SLE and APS and can enhance the accumulation of oxLDL into macrophages (Hasunuma et al. 1997).

 β 2 GPI is believed to play a role in the human coagulation system by inhibiting the intrinsic coagulation pathway and ADP-mediated platelet aggregation (Nimpf et al. 1987).

Prothrombin is an antigenic target of some aPLs and a subgroup of these antibodies possesses LA activity. LA is not directed to phospholipids alone, but presumably recognize an epitope that is exposed during binding of prothrombin to phospholipids (Bevers et al. 1991). Some IgG aPLs require prothrombin but not β 2 GPI as a cofactor. Antibodies to prothrombin were associated with MI in a prospective study of healthy dyslipidemic men (Vaarala et al. 1996). The mechanisms involved with the development of atherothrombosis may be related to the procoagulant activity of these antibodies in vivo. Due to their cross-reactivity with plasminogen, they may interfere with fibrinolysis. Some aPLs may also interfere with protein C and protein S-mediated inactivation of factor Va and VIIIa, and may inhibit phospholipid-dependent activation of protein C by occupying the phospholipid surface (Keeling et al. 1993). Cardiolipin, a phospholipid found in beef heart, was isolated in 1941 (Pangborn 1941). It is a constituent of the mitochondrial membrane and can be extracted from a number of natural sources such as bovine heart, liver and kidney (Fleischer 1967). Elevated aCL levels was observed in a highly selected series of young patients with MI (Hamsten et al. 1986). aCL have been described both in retrospective and prospective studies as a marker for atherosclerotic vascular disease (Adler et al. 1995; APASS 1993; Nityanand et al. 1995; Vaarala et al. 1995; Wu et al. 1997). Recent studies suggest that autoantibodies binding to cardiolipin, modified LDL and prothrombin can be used as markers of atherosclerosis (Vaarala 2000b; Vaarala et al. 1996). Immunization of LDL-receptor knockout mice with human aCL from an APS patient enhanced atherogenesis (George et al. 1997).

An antigen that triggers the formation of aCL can be of exogenous and/or endogenous origin. Many microorganisms have phospholipids on their surface and are known to induce an immune response against cardiolipin (Mattila et al. 1989; Vayssairat et al. 1995). Endothelial cell injury may lead to the exposure of antigens that are normally secluded within the phospholipid bilayer of the cell membrane, thus eliciting an aCL response (Cheng 1994).

The precise mechanism of action of aCL is not clearly understood. aCL coupled with antigen tends to form ICs and can activate the complement cascade. The terminal components of the complement cascade (MAC), C5b-9 was increased in patients with cerebral ischemia and aCL, a compelling evidence of complement activation by aCL (Davis and Brey 1992). aCL have been shown to bind to endothelial cells (Brey and Coull 1992; Hess et al. 1993) and can also bind to the phospholipid epitopes on

platelet membranes causing platelet activation and aggregation (Årfors et al. 1996).

AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY

To clarify the importance of immune mechanisms in atherosclerosis and its clinical complications, we investigated retrospectively and prospectively the role of autoantibodies, CICs and complement C4 in atherosclerotic vascular disease.

The objective of the present study was to investigate

- The association of CICs to atherosclerosis
- The association of autoantibodies against cardiolipin and oxidatively modified LDL to atherosclerosis
- The pathological immune response against alimentary proteins in patients after MI
- The association of complement factor C 4 allotypes to CICs and atherosclerosis

STUDY POPULATION

Paper I. Samples were collected from 2322 males at 50 years of age in Uppsala during 1970 to 1973. This cohort made up 82% of all 50 year old men living in Uppsala at that time. Of 257 men enrolled in this study, 119 men (mean age 49.6 years) developed MI between 50-70 years of age. A control group of 138 individuals was selected by simple random selection (mean age 49.6 years) from those who did not develop MI up to 70 years of age.

Paper II. Samples were collected from 74 patients out of 92 dyslipoproteinemic men with a first MI before the age of 45 years who were enrolled in the Bezafibrate Coronary Atherosclerosis Intervention Trial (BECAIT). Following a baseline coronary angiography they were randomly assigned to treatment for 5 years with bezafibrate or placebo (39 treated with bezafibrate, 35 with placebo) and underwent two angiograms at 2 and 5 years. Samples were obtained at baseline and at 2 and 5 years.

Paper III. A group of 81 consecutive patients (mean age 39 years, 72 men and 9 women) who had survived a first MI before the age of 45 years were enrolled in the study. Two control groups were examined together with the patients. One group consisted of age-matched, randomly selected, population-based healthy individuals, 79 men and 11 women. An additional control group used only for the determination of serum antibodies against some of the alimentary proteins consisted of 139 healthy blood donors, 95 men and 44 women, with a mean age of 42 years.

28 Awder Mustafa

Paper IV. Sixty-two patients (mean age 49.3 years, 33 males and 29 females) who had been operated for atherosclerotic peripheral vascular disease before 50 years of age were considered eligible for the study. Sixty-seven (mean age 49.3 years, 34 males and 33 females), age and sex matched controls were randomly selected from the population based register of the Stockholm County. A pre-operative angiogram had been performed in every patient. The diagnosis of atherosclerotic vascular disease was made on the basis of clinical and angiographic features.

Paper V. Sera of 38 IDDM patients, 20 male and 18 female (mean age 46.8 years) were studied. The patients had been selected from a group of patients who were observed for 7 years. Half of the patients had developed vascular complications at time of study. The groups were matched with regard to age, sex and duration of disease. The control group was composed of 102 (mean age 47.8 years) age and sex matched healthy individuals. Of the 102 healthy controls, 56 were males and 46 were females.

METHODOLOGY

Isolation and quantitative determination of CICs

Complexes in the circulation are found bound to erythrocytes and free in plasma. To obtain more accurate assays of free complexes, the erythrocytes should be rapidly separated from the plasma to prevent the release of bound complexes.

There are many techniques for detecting and quantifying ICs. They could be divided into two main groups: physicochemical and biological methods, based on the specific properties of complexed immunoglobulin molecules as compared to free immunoglobulin molecules (Table 3).

 Table 3. Some of the commonly used antigen non-specific methods for detection of immune complexes

Analysis based on:			
Physical properties	Biological properties		
Analytical Ultracentrifugation	• Interaction with complement		
• Gel filtration	e.g. solid-phase C1q-binding		
Cryoprecipitation	tests		
• Precipitation in polyethylene glycol (PEG)	• Interaction with conglutinin e.g. solid-phase conglutinin- binding tests		
	• Interaction with complement receptors on cells e.g. Raji cell assay		

The sensitivity of these techniques is generally good, though it is important to avoid all procedures that can generate non-specific aggregates for example repeated thawing and freezing of samples. In order to obtain a quantitative separation of ICs, we have used analysis based on the physical properties of the ICs, such as sucrose density ultracentrifugation and gel filtration.

Sucrose gradient ultracentrifugation:

Advantage:

• Physical separation of the ICs.

Disadvantage:

• Low ionic strength, risk for aggregation of the ICs.

Gel filtration:

Advantage:

• Physical separation of the ICs.

Disadvantage:

• High ionic strength, possibility of dissociation of ICs.

Precipitation by polyethylene glycol (PEG):

Advantage:

- Rapid and physical separation of the ICs.
- By using low concentration (3.5-4%), precipitation of monomeric immunoglobulins decreased significantly, without preventing precipitation of ICs formed in vivo.

Disadvantage:

• Lacks specificity i.e. possibility of precipitating other elements such as lipoproteins.

These methods are preparative, allowing not only detection, but also further immunochemical and biological characterization of the ICs. They are specific and sensitive. The isolated ICs can be accurately quantitated and analyzed for their constituents.

Widely used routine tests are based on the biological properties of ICs, such as conglutinin binding (interaction with conglutinin), C1q binding (interaction with complement), and Raji cell assay (interaction with complement receptors on cells) (Brown et al. 1983; Devey et al. 1980).

Advantage:

• These assays are easy to perform.

Disadvantage

• These methods depend on the characteristics of the CICs. Thus, different results may be obtained using different methods.

Determination of alimentary antigens in ICs

SDS-gel electrophoresis was performed using the PhastGel system, under reducing and non-reducing conditions. Western blotting with immunogold silver staining was performed with the Silver Enhancement Kit according to the instructions of the manufacturer with some modifications. The molecular size markers were stained with PhastGel Blue R (Pharmacia). The primary antibodies used were monoclonal anti-BSA, anti-chicken egg albumin and anti-gliadin (Paper III).

Analysis of serum lipids and lipoproteins

The major serum lipoprotein-that is, VLDL, LDL and HDL-were determined by a combination of preparative ultracentrifugation and precipitation of apo B-containing lipoproteins, followed by lipid analyses (Carlson 1973). Cholesterol (Zlatkis et al. 1953) and triglycerides (Fletcher 1968) were quantified after chloroform-menthol extraction (Carlson 1963) of whole serum, the VLDL fraction, the infranatant after ultracentrifugation (containing LDL and HDL), and the supernatant (HDL) after precipitation.

Oxidation of LDL

In our studies we used both copper (Cu^{++}) oxidized (Wu and Lefvert 1995) and MDA modified LDL (Zhou et al. 1998) as antigens to detect antibodies against oxLDL. To confirm the extent of oxidation, prepared

oxLDL was run on agarose gel electrophoresis and also measured by spectrofluorometry at 400/470 nm.

A broad spectrum of immunogenic oxidative epitopes are formed in vivo, and many of these epitopes occur in atherosclerotic lesions as well as on circulating LDL (Palinski et al. 1996). When polyunsaturated fatty acids in phospholipids and cholesteryl esters in the lipoprotein core undergo peroxidation, highly reactive breakdown products are formed, such as MDA and 4-HNE. These may then form highly immunogenic adducts with lysine and histidine residues of apo B (Palinski and Witztum 2000). MDA-LDL is a prominent epitope of oxLDL and present in atherosclerotic lesions. LDL is a large molecule and different epitopes may be formed during oxidation. This is why we have used both MDA modified and conventional copper modified LDL as antigens in our assay.

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

ELISA is a sensitive assay for detecting antibodies against food proteins, cardiolipin, oxLDL, LDL and MDA-LDL. We used Harris method for standardization of antibodies against cardiolipin with little modification as described in detail in Paper I and IV (Harris et al. 1987).

Advantage of the method:

- Sensitive and simple to perform
- Excellent reproducibility
- Does not require radioactive isotopes
- A large number of samples can be run at the same time
- Both antibody and antigen can be detected and quantified
- Relatively cheap method; high benefit-cost ratio

We have used both mean +2SD and values above 95% confidence interval of the control population as a cutoff level for calculating the

prevalence of the antibodies. Thus, skews of data are not hidden. Levels of antibodies were expressed as OD values. Samples from each patient and the corresponding controls were run in the same plate at the same time.

C4 allotyping

C4 allotyping was done by flat bed agarose gel electrophoresis, according to the method of Zhang et al. and Awdeh et al. with some modifications (Awdeh and Alper 1980; Zhang et al. 1988). The two isotypes of C4: C4A and C4B have different electrophoretic mobility. Based on this property, C4 allotyping was done by agarose gel electrophoresis, followed by immunofixation of the separated bands by rabbit anti-human C4 antibody. Standard samples for the C4 allotypes frequently seen in the Caucasian population (A2, A3, A6, B1, B2 and B3) were included in each gel. C4 allotypes were assigned using published criteria (Mauff et al. 1983). When bands were intermediate between the A and B loci, C4B gene products were distinguished by their greater haemolytic capacity (Awdeh, Alper 1980). The density of the C4A and C4B bands was determined by a scanning densitometer. Complete absence of C4A or C4B bands was taken to indicate homozygous deficiency. Heterozygous deficiency was determined by comparison of the densities of the C4A and C4B bands (Kramer et al. 1989; Zhang et al. 1988). This method can not detect samples with one null alleles at both the A and the B loci, and the number of the null alleles may thus be underestimated. There is a quantitative variation in the relative expression of C4 genes in extended and non-extended MHC haplotypes, and the relative amounts of C4 protein variants in serum may not be regulated only by the number of expressed structural C4 genes, but also by other mechanisms (Truedsson et al. 1989). This makes diagnosis of heterozygous deficiency even less

34 Awder Mustafa

accurate. There are also monoclonal antibodies available for determination of the concentrations of C4A and C4B. We have used both methods in our laboratory and have found a good correlation between electrophoresis and ELISA methods. However, ELISA is not accurate for determining heterozygous C4A or C4B deficiency.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

CICs as predictor for MI and coronary atherosclerosis

A major impediment in understanding the pathogenetic significance of these CICs in MI patients has been that previously published results were inconsistent and most of these studies have been retrospective. After MI, elevated CICs levels could be related to the event or secondary to e.g. myocardial necrosis, and hence have a very different etiology than CICs before such an event.

For such reasons, we have investigated humoral immune factors, including CICs, in atherosclerotic vascular disease using both retrospective and prospective study designs. A prospective nested casecontrol study, in which healthy 50-year-old men were followed for 20 years, showed that elevated levels of CICs are present before the MI, and thus might be related to the development of MI (Paper I). Both the prevalence and concentration of CICs were higher in men who developed MI than in those who remained healthy (Table 4).

Study design	CICs	MI (n =43/119)	Healthy (n =18/138)	Р
Prospective	Prevalence %	36	13	< 0.0001
(20 years follow-up)	Concentration (mg/L)	135	70	< 0.0001

Table 4. Prevalence and concentration of CICs in men who developed MIcompared to those who remained healthy

CICs, circulating immune complexes; MI, myocardial infarction; n, number of men with CICs.

The exciting finding in this study was that the concentration of CICs at 50 years of age was associated with an increased risk for future MI. The uncorrected odds ratio was 3.17 (P < 0.0001), whereas the odds ratio corrected for the conventional risk factors was 2.95 (P < 0.0001). The

concentration of CICs at age 50 years was related not only to future MI but also to death by MI (Table 3, Paper I).

CICs was proven in our study to be an independent and impetus risk factor for the development of atherosclerosis and MI.

In the second prospective angiographic study of dyslipidemic men with premature coronary artery disease, the serum levels of CICs were associated with progression of coronary atherosclerosis (Paper II). CICs increased dramatically over time in all patients, and this was independent of the lipid-lowering treatment with bezafibrate (Table 5).

 Table 5. Effects of treatment and time on the concentration of CICs in patients

 after myocardial infarction

Study design	Time	CICs concentration (mg/L)		
		Treated (n = 39)	Placebo (n =35)	Р
Prospective	Baseline	27±29	64±31	
(5 years follow-up)	Two years	289±29	287±31 }	< 0.0001
	Five years	230±29	170±31 J	

CICs, circulating immune complexes; n, number.

However, patients with relatively lower values of CICs had more progression of the atherosclerotic lesions. The molecular size of the CICs observed by us was in the range that is pathogenic (300-900 kDa) and likely to get deposited in vessel walls. Our finding was in agreement with earlier results showing that persistent high concentrations of CICs is important for vascular damage (Haakenstad et al. 1982; Lefvert et al. 1995). One reason for the apparently paradoxical finding of the relatively lower concentrations of CICs in more advanced disease, might be deposition of ICs in atherosclerotic lesions.

CICs after MI, in peripheral atherosclerosis and IDDM

We found that the prevalence and concentration of CICs were higher in patients after MI, in peripheral atherosclerosis and IDDM in comparison with the healthy controls (Table 6).

precocious MI, p	ecocious Mii, peripheral atheroscierosis and IDDM compared to controls				
Study	Design	CICs	Patients	Controls	
Precocious MI	Retrospective	Prevalence	18	5	
(Paper III)	(Patients=76)	Concentration	136	45	
	(Controls=229)				
Peripheral	Retrospective	Prevalence	50	10	
atherosclerosis	(Patients=62)	Concentration	90	35	
(Paper IV)	(Controls=67)				
IDDM	Retrospective	Prevalence	83	5	
(Paper V)	(Patients=38)	Concentration	67	31	
	(Controls=102)				

Table 6. Prevalence (%) and concentration of CICs (mg/L) in subjects with precocious MI, peripheral atherosclerosis and IDDM compared to controls

CICs, circulating immune complexes; MI, myocardial infarction.

Furthermore, both the prevalence and level of CICs were higher in IDDM patients with vascular complications (microangiopathy, nephropathy, peripheral polyneuropathy and foot ulcers) in comparison with IDDM patients without complications (Table 7).

Table 7. Prevalence and concentration of CICs in IDDM patients with andwithout signs of vascular complications

CICs	Patients with complications	Patients without complications	Р	
Prevalence %	91	68	< 0.05	
Concentration (mg/L)	67	38	< 0.05	

CICs, circulating immune complexes; IDDM, Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus.

Persistently high concentration of CICs can result in perturbation of endothelial cells and activation of the complement cascade. The net effect is a low-grade chronic inflammation of the vascular wall, with infiltration of monocytes and lymphocytes into arterial intima. Such an inflammation resembles the basic features of atherosclerosis (Hansson et al. 1989).

An inflammatory reaction in the atherosclerotic vessel wall results in an increased oxidative capacity of various cell types (Glass, Witztum 2001; Libby 2001; Vaarala 2000a) causing peroxidation of lipids. These oxidatively modified LDL molecules can induce chemokines and expression of endothelial adhesion molecules in vitro (Klouche et al. 1999; Shih et al. 1999), resulting in infiltration of inflammatory cells. T-cell clones reactive with oxLDL derived from human atherosclerotic plaques secrete high levels IFN- γ , indicative of a Th1-type reactivity which is associated with inflammation (Stemme et al. 1995). Thus, the elevated levels of CICs found by us can have an important pathogenic role for the initiation and/or enhancement of atherosclerotic processes. Furthermore, CICs may induce platelet activation and aggregation and hence enhance thrombus formation (Clark et al. 1982).

Contents of CICs

What induces the formation of CICs and what predisposes to persistence of CICs in these subjects is still not known. One or several factors could be implicated. Persistent antigenic stimulus (endogenous or exogenous) could be one factor. Impaired clearance of CICs could be another important factor. Chronic microbial infections, abnormal reactions against alimentary antigens and endogenous antigens like oxLDL or cardiolipin could cause such persistent immune stimulation. We investigated the constituents of the CICs in patients after MI who had persistently high concentrations of CICs five years after the event (18% of all patients). Alimentary antigens/antibodies in immune complex form were present in seven patients out of 14 (50%) (Paper III). The 14 patients with CICs had lower plasma fibrinogen levels (median value 3.05) than patients without CICs (median value 3.5 g/L, P < 0.01). Patients with alimentary antigens/antibodies in CICs had lower serum triglycerides (P < 0.05) and VLDL cholesterol values (P < 0.05) than the other patients with CICs. Our findings indicate that these patients constitute a special group less impeded with conventional risk factors. In these patients, an aberrant immunological reaction may be a primary factor responsible for the development of MI.

When we determined the antibody isotypes in these CICs, IgG was the predominant antibody species, followed by IgM whereas the IgA content was low. In one study, IgA2-ICs provided the strongest stimulus for neutrophil activation in vitro (Zhang et al. 1995). However, IgA-CICs do not readily activate the complement system or promote phagocytosis (Heremans 1974). IgA-CICs thus represent the normal and harmless way of eliminating food proteins, whereas the IgG-CICs present in all our 14 patients should be considered as potent initiators of vascular damage. The role of CICs in the activation of the complement cascade was clearly seen when four young MI patients who had alimentary antigens/antibodies in CICs were subjected to a 2-week elimination diet followed by challenge with cow milk.

A rise in CICs, activation of the complement system and high plasma concentration of vWFAg was evident within one week (Table 8). The MAC complex displaces membrane phospholipids, leading to formation of a transmembrane channel that enables the passage of ions and small molecules, which results in damage to the cells (Kuby 1994). The elevated levels of vWFAg found in all our patients after the challenge suggests that CICs caused a significant perturbation of endothelial cells, which are the main source for vWFAg.

Table 8. Maximal increases of CICs, complement factors 3a, 3d, C5b-9 and				
vWFAg after milk provocation in four patients with previous myocardial				
infarction at a young age. These values had reverted to baseline level by the end of				
the second week.				

Patient		Maximal increase (%)			
	CICs	C3a	C3d	C5b-	9 vWFAg
1	345	425	300	817	800
2	2067	216	175	188	425
3	213	438	162	158	960
4	242	177	118	120	328

CICs, circulating immune complexes; C3a, complement factor 3a; C3d, complement factor 3d; C5b-9, terminal complement complex (MAC); vWFAg, von Willebrand factor antigen.

Elevated levels of vWFAg was an independent risk factor for the acute coronary syndromes (Thompson et al. 1995) and independently predicted recurrent MI and death by MI (Jansson et al. 1991). vWFAg has an important role in platelet adhesion to subendothelial structures (Sadler 1991). Furthermore, an increase in vWFAg concentration may also increase the risk of thrombus formation.

We also investigated the constituents of the CICs in six patients with IDDM and found relatively higher concentrations of aCL in these CICs as compared to serum (Table 1, Fig. 3a-c. Paper V). Particularly, CICs-derived IgA-aCL was 42-163 times higher than serum-derived IgA-aCL, (for IgG-aCL 2-8 and IgM-aCL 3-25 times). Such a concentration of aCL in complex form was also present in our earlier study (Årfors and Lefvert 1997). The presence of aCL reactivity in complexes might bestow them with special pathogenic potentials, for example with regard to binding to membrane phospholipids.

Complement C4

•

The role of C4 for the tendency to immune complex formation was investigated in patients with MI, peripheral atherosclerotic and IDDM, and the following findings emerged:

- Healthy men homozygous for C4Q0 who developed MI between the age of 50-70 years had higher levels of CICs than men who remained healthy (P < 0.01). The prevalence of CICs was higher in men who developed MI and were homozygous for C4Q0 (86%) than those developed MI and were heterozygous for C4Q0 (36%) (P < 0.03) (Paper I).
- All postinfarction patients with CICs had partial complement C4 deficiencies (Paper III).
- Patients with peripheral atherosclerosis with C4Q0 had significantly higher prevalence of CICs than patients without C4Q0 (65% and 38%, respectively). All patients with homozygous C4A*Q0 and 82% with heterozygous C4A*Q0 had CICs (Paper IV).
 - The prevalence of CICs was higher in IDDM patients with C4A*Q0 than in patients with no C4A*Q0 (96% *versus* 69%, P < 0.05). Patients with vascular complications had CICs in 91% and those without complications in 68% of cases (P < 0.05). Patients with vascular complications had higher prevalence of C4A*Q0 than of C4B*Q0 (49% *versus* 15%, P < 0.01 (Paper V).

Our results strongly support the role of C4A deficiency for immune complex formation.

The higher prevalence of C4A*Q0 in IDDM patients with vascular complications, further supports the role of C4A and suggests that patients

with C4A*Q0 are specially predisposed to immune complex induced vascular complications.

Thus, chronic persistent CICs associated with genetic deficiencies of C4 might be an additional etiological factor for the development of chronic vascular damage resulting in premature atherosclerosis.

Autoantibodies as a predictor for MI and coronary atherosclerosis

In our studies, we have measured aCL both in prospective (MI) and retrospective (IDDM) study designs. Elevated aCL levels were observed in young postinfarction patients (Hamsten et al. 1986) and high levels aCL have been described as an independent risk factors for MI or cardiac death in middle-aged men (Vaarala et al. 1995; Wu et al. 1997). aCL have been described as an independent risk factor for atherosclerotic vascular disease. It has been suggested that aCL should be routinely measured in all patients at risk for atherosclerotic vascular disease, and in those in whom thrombosis is a major pathoetiology (Glueck et al. 1999). We found that the level of IgG-aCL and the prevalence of both IgG- and IgM-aCL were higher in subjects who developed MI and had CICs compared to subjects without CICs (Paper 1). There was also a positive correlation between the levels of CICs and IgG-aCL in men who developed MI (r=0.4, P= 0.0001). This suggests, that aCL could be involved in the formation of CICs in these patients.

Patients with MI followed for five years showed a decline in the levels of aCL with time (Paper II). This might be the result of elimination, perhaps through binding to exposed phospholipids on the damaged arterial wall or by formation of CICs. Antibodies to cardiolipin seem to have an increased tendency to immune complex formation. Our present study

supports our earlier data showing that these antibodies might be involved in the formation of CICs (Årfors, Lefvert 1997).

Extensive data have accumulated on the role of autoantibodies against epitopes of oxLDL in humans, suggesting that the level of such autoantibodies may be an indicator of the severity of atherosclerosis and its rate of progression. Salonen *et. al.* observed, that elevated levels of autoantibodies to oxLDL was an independent predictor of lesion progression in carotid atherosclerosis (Salonen et al. 1997). Subsequently, many studies have reported elevated autoantibody levels to oxLDL in subjects with increased frequency of risk factors or clinically manifest atherosclerosis, including coronary artery disease, MI, peripheral vascular disease, hypertension and pre-eclampsia (Bergmark et al. 1995; Branch et al. 1994; Maggi et al. 1993; Puurunen et al. 1994; Virella et al. 1993; Wu et al. 1997).

In our study, we found that elevated levels of IgM and IgG antibodies to oxLDL were associated with a more rapid progression of atherosclerotic lesions and the occurrence of new occlusions (Paper II). This relation was independent of established risk factors. Ehara *et al.* observed that levels of oxLDL were related directly to the severity of coronary syndromes (Ehara et al. 2001). High concentrations of autoantibodies to oxLDL observed by us reflect an ongoing antigenic challenge produced by the continuous generation of oxLDL. The generation of both IgM and IgG antibodies suggests, that both T cell-dependent and -independent pathways for B cell activation are involved in the immune response against oxLDL.

Autoantibodies to oxLDL were also found to be present as part of immune complexes with oxLDL (Lopes-Virella et al. 1999; Wu, Lefvert 1995), and can recognise material in atherosclerotic lesions of rabbits and man (Haberland et al. 1988; Ylä-Herttuala et al. 1994). High concentration of CICs containing oxLDL has been suggested as a risk factor for the development of CAD in IDDM (Lopes-Virella et al. 1999). Furthermore, it has been reported that ICs derived from SLE sera stimulate the accumulation of cholesterol in cultured SMC from human aorta (Kabakov et al. 1992). Thus, one pathogenic effect of the autoantibodies to oxLDL might be participation in the formation of ICs. The data obtained by us extend the findings of several previous studies and support that high concentrations of autoantibodies against oxLDL are related to the development of atherosclerosis.

Autoantibodies in IDDM

The prevalence of autoantibodies to cardiolipin in IDDM patients with and without signs of vascular complications and in control is shown in Table 9.

vascular complications and in controls					
Ig type	All patients	Patients with complications	Patients without complications	Controls	
IgG*	21	32	11	5	
IgM	none	none	none	4	
IgA**	45	47	42	7	

Table 9. Prevalence (%) of aCL in IDDM patients with and without signs ofvascular complications and in controls

Statistical comparisons were done between all patients and all controls. aCL, anticardiolipin antibody; IDDM, Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus, Ig, immunoglobulin; *, P < 0.005; **, P < 0.001.

The levels of IgG- and IgA-aCL were higher in both patient groups than in the control group (P < 0.001). There was no difference in the levels of these antibodies between patient groups. The levels of IgM-aCL were higher in IDDM patients with vascular complications than in patients without or controls (P < 0.005). One interesting aspect of our results is the higher concentrations of IgMaCL in IDDM patients with vascular complications than in patients without or controls (P < 0.005). When pentameric IgM is bound to an antigen, at least three binding sites for C1q are exposed. Thus, due to its high avidity, IgM has a high capacity to activate the complement system. Another interesting aspect of our results is the elevated level of IgA-aCL in IDDM patients. The production of IgA-aCL can be triggered by intestinal or respiratory tract infections. Since patients with IDDM have an increased susceptibility to infections, IgA-aCL might represent crossreacting antibodies that have been triggered by microorganisms bearing surface phospholipids. There was no increased prevalence or levels of antibodies against oxLDL in both patient groups when compared to controls.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Taken together, the present studies revealed links between humoral immune factors and atherosclerotic vascular disease. We draw the following conclusions:

- CICs alone and in combination with aCL predict MI.
- CICs and autoantibodies against oxLDL are associated with progression of coronary atherosclerosis.
- Dietary proteins can induce formation of CICs and give rise to signs of vascular damage.
- CICs and aCL are associated to vascular complications in IDDM.
- C4Q0 enhances the propensity to immune complex formation.

The present work suggests that immune reactions are likely the main impetus in triggering and/or enhancing the atherosclerotic processes in a subgroup of individuals.

Patients with CICs and antibodies to cardiolipin and oxLDL should be followed with repeated determinations of these parameters, to further evaluate their role as predictors of atherosclerosis and its complications. In patients with persisting CICs, it is important to define the antigen(s) triggering formation of CICs. Elimination of the culprit antigen(s), e.g. food protein(s)from the diet or microorganism by anti-microbial therapy can result in disappearance of CICs from the circulation and thus decrease the risk for vascular inflammation. The mechanisms of action of these humoral immune factors need to be further studied.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to all, whose generous help and support made it possible to complete this work. I specially would like to thank:

My principal tutor, **Professor Ann Kari Lefvert,** a model tutor in her knowledge, generosity and immense patience for allowing me to join her group with enthusiasm and for granting me a great portion of independence in my work. For open-minded and encouragement throughout this work, her capability of noticing things I don't and suggesting concrete changes to the better and for always keeping her door open.

Professor Göran Holm, former Head of the Department of Medicine, for his support and sharing his deep knowledge of Immunology.

Professor Anders Hamsten, for the many fruitful hours of discussion, his critical eye, abundant energy and willingness to read (and re-read) a manuscript.

Professor Göran Hansson, for his fruitful discussion, constant support and scientific guidance.

Dr. Ricardo Giscombe, for being the person that all in the laboratory could always turn to. His sense of humour and concern for all his fellow colleagues makes him indeed the most special person in the laboratory.

Dr. Soniya Nityanand, for her generous help and many hours of wonderful collaboration and stimulating discussions in science and Indian food.

I am particularly thankful to all my co-authors in this work.

My colleagues on the third floor at CMM; **Göran Hansson's** group, **Carani Sanjeevi's** group, the **haematology** group; all present and former members of **Håkan Mellstedt's** group and **Anders Hamsten's** group for creating a scientific atmosphere.

My former and present **co-workers**, especially to Baback Gharizadeh, Carola Rintisch, Cathy Lefvert, Doina Anton, Ejaz Ahmed, Juta Andersson, Jasmina Trifunovic Cvetkovic, Lotta Sunderwall, Mehran Ghaderi, Maria Kakoulidou, Mohammad Reza, Nasrin Al-Kadi with her family, Nilam Chowdhry, Ranghild Östman, Sunil Dabadghao, Sagrika Narangod, Susanne Bergenbrant Glas, DeRen Huang, Ruihua Wu, Xiao Yan Zhao, Xiong Biao Wang, Wen He, Qing Yi, Biying Xu, and many others for their help, support, friendship and creating a fun and enjoyable laboratory atmosphere.

All **colleagues at the clinic** who generously relieved me from many duties and thus made this work possible.

All the **patients** who have been participated in this study. Their voluntary participation has made this study possible.

All my **friends and their families**. Thank you all, for good time we have had together.

All my **relatives and their families** whose prayers, warm wishes and inspiration made it possible to complete this work.

My **brothers**, **sisters and their families**, for their endless love, moral support, prayers, and sacrifice that have made it possible to me to be a doctor and to complete this work. For giving me a good life, full of wonderful memories.

My father **Tahir Mustafa**, the symbol of our large family, who was an invaluable source of inspiration, support and persistent encouragement. My MD and this Ph.D. would not be possible without his love, strength and instilling his dreams into me. For guiding me through the right path of peace, tranquillity and giving a meaning to my life.

Finally, to my beloved wife **Lazha** and our wonderful sons **Ara** and **San**. Thank you for all the time that was rightfully yours but instead was occupied by clinical and laboratory duties. What would my accomplishments be worth without you!

This work was supported by grants from the Swedish Heart-Lung Foundation, the King Gustaf V:s 80-Years Foundation, the Karolinska Institutet, the Swedish Medical Research Council, the Åke Wiberg, Magnus Bergwalls Foundations, Nanna Svartz Foundation, the Swedish National Association Aginst Rheumatism, the Crafoord Foundation, Grata och Johan Kock's Foundation, Boehringer Mannheim GmbH and the serafimerlasarettet Foundation.

REFERENCES

Adler, Y., Finkelstein, Y., Zandeman-Goddard, G., Blank, M., Lorber, M., Lorber, A., Faden, D., and Shoenfeld, Y.: The presence of antiphospholipid antibodies in acute myocardial infarction. *Lupus 4*: 309-313, 1995

Ameli, S., Hultgårdh-Nilsson, A., Regnström, J., Calara, F., Yano, J., Cercek, B., Shah, P. K., and Nilsson, J.: Effect of immunization with homologous LDL and oxidized LDL on early atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic rabbits. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 16:* 1074-1079, 1996

Annand, J. C.: Denatured bovine immunoglobulin pathogenic in atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* 59: 347-351, 1986

APASS: Anticardiolipin antibodies are an independent risk factor for first ischemic stroke. The Antiphospholipid Antibodies in Stroke Study (APASS) Group. *Neurology* 43: 2069-2073, 1993

Awdeh, Z. L. and Alper, C. A.: Inherited polymorphism of human C4 as revealed by desialyzation. *Immunobiology 158*: 35-41, 1980

Bachmaier, K., Neu, N., de la Maza, L. M., Pal, S., Hessel, A., and Penninger, J. M.: Chlamydia infections and heart disease linked through antigenic mimicry. *Science* 283: 1335-1339, 1999

Beaumont, J. L. and Beaumont, V.: Autoimmune hyperlipidemia. *Atherosclerosis 26:* 405-418, 1977

Benditt, E. P., Barrett, T., and McDougall, J. K.: Viruses in the etiology of atherosclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80:* 6386-6389, 1983

Bergmark, C., Wu, R., de Faire, U., Lefvert, A. K., and Swedenborg, J.: Patients with early-onset peripheral vascular disease have increased levels of autoantibodies against oxidized LDL. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:* 441-445, 1995

Bevers, E. M., Galli, M., Barbui, T., Comfurius, P., and Zwaal, R. F.: Lupus anticoagulant IgG's (LA) are not directed to phospholipids only, but to a complex of lipid-bound human prothrombin. *Thromb Haemost 66:* 629-632, 1991

Branch, D. W., Mitchell, M. D., Miller, E., Palinski, W., and Witztum, J. L.: Preeclampsia and serum antibodies to oxidised low-density lipoprotein. *Lancet 343:* 645-646, 1994

Brey, R. L. and Coull, B. M.: Antiphospholipid antibodies: origin, specificity and mechanism of action. *Stroke 23*: I-15--I-18, 1992

Brown, M. S. and Goldstein, J. L.: A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis. *Science 232*: 34-47, 1986

Brown, M. S., Kovanen, P. T., and Goldstein, J. L.: Regulation of plasma cholesterol by lipoprotein receptors. *Science 212:* 628-635, 1981

Brown, S. E., Steward, M. W., Viola, L., Howard, C. R., and Murray-Lyon, I. M.: Chronic liver disease: the detection and characterization of circulating immune complexes. *Immunology* 49: 673-683, 1983

Caligiuri, G., Rottenberg, M., Nicoletti, A., Wigzell, H., and Hansson, G. K.: Chlamydia pneumoniae Infection Does Not Induce or Modify Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Circulation 103:* 2834-2838, 2001

Carlson, K.: Lipoprotein fractionation. *Journal of Clinical Pathology - Supplement* (Association of Clinical Pathologists) 5: 32-37, 1973

Carlson, L. A.: Determination of serum triglycerides. *J Atheroscler Res 3*: 334-336, 1963

Cerilli, J., Brasile, L., and Karmody, A.: Role of the vascular endothelial cell antigen system in the etiology of atherosclerosis. *Ann Surg 202*: 329-334, 1985

Cheng, H.-W.: Pathogenicity of antiphospholipid antibodies. *Immuno-physiology of Antiphospholipid Antibodies.*, pp. 67-89, RG Landes Co, Austin, Tex, 1994

Cherubini, A., Mecocci, P., and Senin, U.: Autoantibodies against oxidized lowdensity lipoproteins in older stroke patients. *JAGS 45:* 125, 1997

Clark, W. F., Tevaarwerk, G. J., Moriarity, T. A., and Reid, B. D.: Inhibitors of immune complex induced human platelet aggregation and release in plasma. *Thromb Res* 28: 681-688, 1982

Clarkson, T. B. and Alexander, N. J.: Long-term vasectomy: effects on the occurrence and extent of atherosclerosis in rhesus monkeys. *J Clin Invest 65:* 15-25, 1980

Danesh, J., Collins, R., and Peto, R.: Chronic infections and coronary heart disease: is there a link? *Lancet 350:* 430-436, 1997

Davies, D. F., Davies, J. R., and Richards, M. A.: Antibodies to reconstituted dried cow's milk protein in coronary heart disease. *J Atheroscler Res 9*: 103-107, 1969

Davis, W. D. and Brey, R. L.: Antiphospholipid antibodies and complement activation in patients with cerebral ischemia. *Clin Exp Rheumatol 10:* 455-460, 1992

de Servi, S., Ricevuti, G., Mazzone, A., Ghio, S., Zito, A., Raffaghello, S., and Specchia, G.: Granulocyte function in coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol 68:* 64B-68B, 1991

Devey, M. E., Taylor, J., and Steward, M. W.: Measurement of antigen-antibody complexes in mouse sera by conglutinin, C1q and rheumatoid factor solid phase binding assays. *J Immunol Methods 34*: 191-203, 1980

Dinerman, J. L., Mehta, J. L., Saldeen, T. G., Emerson, S., Wallin, R., Davda, R., and Davidson, A.: Increased neutrophil elastase release in unstable angina pectoris and acute myocardial infarction. *J Am Coll Cardiol 15*: 1559-1563, 1990

Ehara, S., Ueda, M., Naruko, T., Haze, K., Itoh, A., Otsuka, M., Komatsu, R., Matsuo, T., Itabe, H., Takano, T., Tsukamoto, Y., Yoshiyama, M., Takeuchi, K., Yoshikawa, J., and Becker, A. E.: Elevated levels of oxidized low density lipoprotein show a positive relationship with the severity of acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation 103:* 1955-1960, 2001

Endemann, G., Stanton, L. W., Madden, K. S., Bryant, C. M., White, R. T., and Protter, A.: CD36 is a receptor for oxidized density lipoprotein. *J Biol Chem 268:* 11811-11816, 1993

Esterbauer, H., Gebicki, J., Puhl, H., and Jürgens, G.: The role of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in oxidative modification of LDL. *Free Rad Biol Med 13*: 341-390, 1992

Farrell, C., Bloth, B., Nielsen, H., Dougharty, H., Lundman, T., and Svehage, S.-E.: Asurvey for circulating immune complexes in patients with acute myocardial infarction -- Use of a C1q-binding assay with soluble protein A as indicator. *Scand J Immunol 6*: 1233-1240, 1977

Fleischer, S.: Lipid composition of mitochondria from bovine heart, liver and kidney. *J Lipid Res 8*: 170-175, 1967

Fletcher, M. J.: A colorimetric method for estimating serum triglycerides. *Clin Chim Acta 22*: 393-397, 1968

Folsom, A. R., Nieto, F. J., Sorlie, P., Chambless, L. E., and Graham, D. Y.: Helicobacter pylori seropositivity and coronary heart disease incidence. Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities (ARIC) Study Investigators. *Circulation 98:* 845-850, 1998

Fowler, S., Shio, H., and Haley, N. J.: Characterization of lipid-laden aortic cells from cholesterol-fed rabbits. IV. Investigation of macrophage-like properties of aortic cell populations. *Lab Invest 41*: 372-378, 1979

Fuster, V., Badimon, L., Badimon, J. J., and Chesebro, J. H.: The pathogenesis of coronary artery disease and the acute coronary syndromes. *N Engl J Med 326:* 242-250, 1992

Füst, G., Szondy, E., Székely, J., Nánai, I., and Gerö, S.: Studies on the occurrence of circulating immune complexes in vascular diseases. *Atherosclerosis 29:* 181-190, 1978

George, J., Afek, A., Gilburd, B., Levy, Y., Blank, M., Kopolovic, J., Harats, D., and Shoenfeld, Y.: Atherosclerosis in LDL-receptor knockout mice is accelerated by immunization with anticardiolipin antibodies. *Lupus 6:* 723-729, 1997

George, J., Harats, D., Gilburd, B., Afek, A., Levy, Y., Schneiderman, J., Barshack, I., Kopolovic, J., and Shoenfeld, Y.: Immunolocalization of beta2-glycoprotein I

52 Awder Mustafa

(apolipoprotein H) to human atherosclerotic plaques: potential implications for lesion progression. *Circulation 99:* 2227-2230, 1999

Gerö, S., Szekely, J., Szondy, E., and Seregelyi, E.: Immunological studies with aortic and venous tissue antigens. II. Antibodies to vascular antigens. *Paroi Arterielle 3*: 89-92, 1975

Gieffers, J., Fullgraf, H., Jahn, J., Klinger, M., Dalhoff, K., Katus, H. A., Solbach, W., and Maass, M.: Chlamydia pneumoniae infection in circulating human monocytes is refractory to antibiotic treatment. *Circulation 103*: 351-356, 2001

Ginsburg, R., Bristow, M. R., Dibiase, A., and Billingham, M. E.: Quantitative pharmacologic responses of normal and atherosclerotic isolated human epicardial arteries. *Circulation 69*: 430-440, 1984

Gissinger, C., Virella, G. T., and Lopes-Virella, M. F.: Erythrocyte-bound lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL) immune complexes lead to cholesteryl ester accumulation in human monocyte derived macrophages. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol 59:* 37-51, 1991

Glass, C. K. and Witztum, J. L.: Atherosclerosis. the road ahead. *Cell 104:* 503-516, 2001

Glueck, C. J., Lang, J. E., Tracy, T., Sieve-Smith, L., and Wang, P.: Evidence that anticardiolipin antibodies are independent risk factors for atherosclerotic vascular disease. *Am J Cardiol 83:* 1490-1494, A8, 1999

Grayston, J. T., Kuo, C. C., Campbell, L. A., and Benditt, E. P.: Chlamydia pneumoniae, strain TWAR and atherosclerosis. *Eur Heart J 14 Suppl K:* 66-71, 1993

Griffith, R. L., Virella, G. T., Stevenson, H. C., and Lopes-virella, M. F.: Low density lipoprotein metabolism by human macrophages activated with low density lipoprotein immune complexes. *J Exp Med 168:* 1041-1059, 1988

Gudbrandsson, T., Hansson, L., Herlitz, H., Lindholm, L., and Nilsson, L. A.: Immunological changes in patients with previous malignant essential hypertension. *Lancet 1:* 406-408, 1981

Haakenstad, A. O., Striker, G. E., and Mannik, M.: The disappearance kinetics and glomerular deposition of small-latticed soluble immune complexes. *Immunology* 47: 407-414, 1982

Haberland, M. E., Fong, D., and Cheng, L.: Malondialdehyde-altered protein occurs in atheroma of Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbits. *Science 241:* 215-218, 1988

Hamsten, A., Norberg, R., Bjorkholm, M., de Faire, U., and Holm, G.: Antibodies to cardiolipin in young survivors of myocardial infarction: an association with recurrent cardiovascular events. *Lancet 1:* 113-116, 1986

Hansson, G. K., Jonasson, L., Seifert, P. S., and Stemme, S.: Immune mechanisms in atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis 9:* 567-578, 1989

Hansson, G. K. and Libby, P.: The role of lymphocyte. *In* V. Fuster, R. Ross, and E. J. Topol (eds.): *Atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease.*, pp. 557-568, Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia, 1996

Harris, E. N., Gharavi, A. E., Patel, S. P., and Hughes, G. R.: Evaluation of the anticardiolipin antibody test: report of an international workshop held 4 April 1986. *Clin Exp Immunol 68:* 215-222, 1987

Hasunuma, Y., Matsuura, E., Makita, Z., Katahira, T., Nishi, S., and Koike, T.: Involvement of beta 2-glycoprotein I and anticardiolipin antibodies in oxidatively modified low-density lipoprotein uptake by macrophages. *Clin Exp Immunol 107:* 569-573, 1997

Hauptmann, G., Tappeiner, G., and Schifferli, J. A.: Inherited deficiency of the fourth component of human complement. *Immunodefic Rev 1*: 3-22, 1988

Henriksen, T., Mahoney, E. M., and Steinberg, D.: Enhanced macrophage degradation of low density lipoprotein previously incubated with cultured endothelial cells: recognition by receptors for acetylated low density lipoproteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 78: 6499-6503, 1981

Henriksen, T., Mahoney, E. M., and Steinberg, D.: Interactions of plasma lipoproteins with endothelial cells. *Ann N Y Acad Sci 401*: 102-116, 1982

Henriksen, T., Mahoney, E. M., and Steinberg, D.: Enhanced macrophage degradation of biologically modified low density lipoprotein. *Arteriosclerosis 3:* 149-159, 1983

Heremans, J. F.: The Antigens. Academic Press, New York, 1974

Hess, D. C., Sheppard, J. C., and Adams, R. J.: Increased immunoglobulin binding to cerebral endothelium in patients with antiphospholipid antibodies. *Stroke 24:* 994-999, 1993

Ho, K. J., de Wolfe, V. G., Siler, W., and Lewis, L. A.: Cholesterol dynamics in autoimmune hyperlipidemia. *J Lab Clin Med* 88: 769-779, 1976

Hughes, G. R.: The anticardiolipin syndrome. Clin Exp Rheumatol 3: 285-286, 1985

Hughes, G. R. and Khamashta, M. A.: The antiphospholipid syndrome. *J R Coll Physicians Lond 28*: 301-304, 1994

Isenman, D. E. and Young, J. R.: Covalent binding properties of the C4A and C4B isotypes of the fourth component of human complement on several C1-bearing cell surfaces. *J Immunol 136*: 2542-2550, 1986

Jansson, J. H., Nilsson, T. K., and Johnson, O.: von Willebrand factor in plasma: a novel risk factor for recurrent myocardial infarction and death. *Br Heart J 66:* 351-355, 1991

Kaartinen, M., Penttila, A., and Kovanen, P. T.: Accumulation of activated mast cells in the shoulder region of human coronary atheroma, the predilection site of atheromatous rupture. *Circulation 90*: 1669-1678, 1994

Kaartinen, M., van der Wal, A. C., van der Loos, C. M., Piek, J. J., Koch, K. T., Becker, A. E., and Kovanen, P. T.: Mast cell infiltration in acute coronary syndromes: implications for plaque rupture. *J Am Coll Cardiol 32:* 606-612, 1998

Kabakov, A. E., Tertov, V. V., Saenko, V. A., Poverenny, A. M., and Orekhov, A. N.: The atherogenic effect of lupus sera: systemic lupus erythematosus- derived immune complexes stimulate the accumulation of cholesterol in cultured smooth muscle cells from human aorta. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol 63:* 214-220, 1992

Keeling, D. M., Wilson, A. J., Mackie, I. J., Isenberg, D. A., and Machin, S. J.: Role of beta 2-glycoprotein I and anti-phospholipid antibodies in activation of protein C in vitro. *J Clin Pathol 46:* 908-911, 1993

Kita, T., Nagano, Y., Yokode, M., Ishii, K., Kume, N., Ooshima, A., Yoshida, H., and Kawai, C.: Probucol prevents the progression of atherosclerosis in Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbit, an animal model for familial hypercholesterolemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:* 5928-5931, 1987

Klimov, A. N., Popov, A. V., Nagornev, V. A., and Pleskov, V. M.: Effect of high density lipoproteins on permeability of rabbit aorta to low density lipoproteins. *Atherosclerosis* 55: 217-223, 1985

Klouche, M., May, A. E., Hemmes, M., Messner, M., Kanse, S. M., Preissner, K. T., and Bhakdi, S.: Enzymatically modified, nonoxidized LDL induces selective adhesion and transmigration of monocytes and T-lymphocytes through human endothelial cell monolayers. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:* 784-793, 1999

Kol, A., Sperti, G., Shani, J., Schulhoff, N., van de Greef, W., Landini, M. P., La Placa, M., Maseri, A., and Crea, F.: Cytomegalovirus replication is not a cause of instability in unstable angina. *Circulation 91*: 1910-1913, 1995

Kol, A., Sukhova, G. K., Lichtman, A. H., and Libby, P.: Chlamydial heat shock protein 60 localizes in human atheroma and regulates macrophage tumor necrosis factor-alpha and matrix metalloproteinase expression. *Circulation 98*: 300-307, 1998

Kovanen, P. T., Kaartinen, M., and Paavonen, T.: Infiltrates of activated mast cells at the site of coronary atheromatous erosion or rupture in myocardial infarction. *Circulation 92:* 1084-1088, 1995

Kramer, J., Gyodi, E., and Fust, G.: Usefulness of densitometry in typing of human complement component C4. *Immunogenetics 29*: 121-123, 1989

Kuby, J.: The complement system. *Immunology*, pp. 393-415, W. H. Freeman and company, New York, 1994

Kuo, C. C., Gown, A. M., Benditt, E. P., and Grayston, J. T.: Detection of Chlamydia pneumoniae in aortic lesions of atherosclerosis by immunocytochemical stain. *Arterioscler Thromb 13*: 1501-1504, 1993

Lachmann, P. J. and Peters, D. K.: Clinical aspects of immunology. Blackwell, Oxford, 1982

Laine, P., Kaartinen, M., Penttila, A., Panula, P., Paavonen, T., and Kovanen, P. T.: Association between myocardial infarction and the mast cells in the adventitia of the infarct-related coronary artery. *Circulation 99*: 361-369, 1999

Law, S. K., Dodds, A. W., and Porter, R. R.: A comparison of the properties of two classes, C4A and C4B, of the human complement component C4. *Embo J 3*: 1819-1823, 1984

Lefvert, A. K., Hamsten, A., and Holm, G.: Association between circulating immune complexes, complement C4 null alleles, and myocardial infarction before age 45 years. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:* 665-668, 1995

Libby, P.: Vascular disease. *In* E. Braunwald, A. Fauci, D. Kasper, S. Hauser, D. Longo, and J. L. Jameson (eds.): *Harisson's principles of internal medicine.*, pp. 1377-1382, *McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc*, New York, 2001

Linnanmäki, E., Leinonen, M., Mattila, K., Nieminen, M. S., Valtonen, V., and Saikku, P.: Chlamydia pneumoniae-specific circulating immune complexes in patients with chronic coronary heart disease. *Circulation* 87: 1130-1134, 1993

Lopes-Virella, M. F., Griffith, R. L., Shunk, K. A., and Virella, G. T.: Enhanced uptake and impaired intracellular metabolism of low density lipoprotein complexed with anti-low density lipoprotein antibodies. *Arterioscler Thromb 11*: 1356-1367, 1991

Lopes-Virella, M. F., Virella, G., Orchard, T. J., Koskinen, S., Evans, R. W., Becker, D. J., and Forrest, K. Y.: Antibodies to oxidized LDL and LDL-containing immune complexes as risk factors for coronary artery disease in diabetes mellitus. *Clin Immunol 90:* 165-1672, 1999

Love, P. E. and Santoro, S. A.: Antiphospholipid antibodies: anticardiolipin and the lupus anticoagulant in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and in non-SLE disorders. Prevalence and clinical significance. *Ann Intern Med 112*: 682-698, 1990

Maggi, E., Finardi, G., Poli, M., Bollati, P., Filipponi, M., Stefano, P. L., Paolini, G., Grossi, A., Clot, P., and Albano, E.: Specificity of autoantibodies against oxidized LDL as an additional marker for atherosclerotic risk. *Coron Artery Dis 4*: 1119-1122, 1993

Mattila, K., Vaarala, O., Palosuo, T., Malkamaki, M., Valtonen, V., Nieminen, M., and Aho, K.: Serologic response against cardiolipin and enterobacterial common antigen in young patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol 51*: 414-418, 1989

Mauff, G., Alper, C. A., Awdeh, Z., Batchelor, J. R., Bertrams, J., Bruun-Petersen, G., Dawkins, R. L., Demant, P., Edwards, J., Grosse-Wilde, H., Hauptmann, G., Klouda, P., Lamm, L., Mollenhauer, E., Nerl, C., Olaisen, B., O'Neill, G., Rittner, C., Roos, M. H., Skanes, V., Teisberg, P., and Wells, L.: Statement on the nomenclature of human C4 allotypes. *Immunobiology 164:* 184-191, 1983

Mayr, M., Metzler, B., Kiechl, S., Willeit, J., Schett, G., Xu, Q., and Wick, G.: Endothelial cytotoxicity mediated by serum antibodies to heat shock proteins of Escherichia coli and Chlamydia pneumoniae: immune reactions to heat shock proteins as a possible link between infection and atherosclerosis. *Circulation 99*: 1560-1566, 1999

McNeil, H. P., Simpson, R. J., Chesterman, C. N., and Krilis, S. A.: Antiphospholipid antibodies are directed against a complex antigen that includes a lipidbinding inhibitor of coagulation: beta 2- glycoprotein I (apolipoprotein H). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87*: 4120-4124, 1990

Mehta, J., Dinerman, J., Mehta, P., Saldeen, T. G., Lawson, D., Donnelly, W. H., and Wallin, R.: Neutrophil function in ischemic heart disease. *Circulation 79:* 549-556, 1989

Miller, G. W. and Nussenzweig, V.: A new complement function: solubilization of antigen-antibody aggregates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 72: 418-422, 1975

Minick, C. R. and Murphy, G. E.: Experimental induction of atheroarteriosclerosis by the synergy of allergic injury to arteries and lipid-rich diet. II. Effect of repeatedly injected foreign protein in rabbits fed a lipid-rich, cholesterol-poor diet. *Am J Pathol* 73: 265-300, 1973

Mironova, M., Virella, G., and Lopes-Virella, M. F.: Isolation and characterization of human antioxidized LDL autoantibodies. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 16:* 222-229, 1996

Morel, D. W., DiCorleto, P. E., and Chisolm, G. M.: Endothelial and smooth muscle cells alter low density lipoprotein in vitro by free radical oxidation. *Arteriosclerosis 4*: 357-364, 1984

Møller, N. P.: Fc-mediated immune precipitation. I. A new role of the Fc-portion of IgG. *Immunology 38:* 631-640, 1979

Møller, N. P. and Steensgaard, J.: Fc-mediated immune precipitation. II. Analysis of precipitating immune complexes by rate-zonal ultracentrifugation. *Immunology 38:* 641-648, 1979

Napoli, C., D'Armiento, F. P., Mancini, F. P., Postiglione, A., Witztum, J. L., Palumbo, G., and Palinski, W.: Fatty streak formation occurs in human fetal aortas and is greatly enhanced by maternal hypercholesterolemia. Intimal accumulation of low density lipoprotein and its oxidation precede monocyte recruitment into early atherosclerotic lesions. *J Clin Invest 100:* 2680-2690, 1997

Navab, M., Berliner, J. A., Watson, A. D., Hama, S. Y., Territo, M. C., Lusis, A. J., Shih, D. M., Van Lenten, B. J., Frank, J. S., Demer, L. L., Edwards, P. A., and Fogelman, A. M.: The Yin and Yang of oxidation in the development of the fatty streak. A review based on the 1994 George Lyman Duff Memorial Lecture. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 16*: 831-842, 1996

Nimpf, J., Wurm, H., and Kostner, G. M.: Beta 2-glycoprotein-I (apo-H) inhibits the release reaction of human platelets during ADP-induced aggregation. *Atherosclerosis* 63: 109-114, 1987

Nityanand, S., Bergmark, C., de Faire, U., Swedenborg, J., Holm, G., and Lefvert, A. K.: Antibodies against endothelial cells and cardiolipin in young patients with peripheral atherosclerotic disease. *J Intern Med 238*: 437-443, 1995

O'Neill, G. J., Yang, S. Y., and Dupont, B.: Two HLA-linked loci controlling the fourth component of human complement. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 75: 5165-5169, 1978

Palinski, W., Horkko, S., Miller, E., Steinbrecher, U. P., Powell, H. C., Curtiss, L. K., and Witztum, J. L.: Cloning of monoclonal autoantibodies to epitopes of oxidized lipoproteins from apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Demonstration of epitopes of oxidized low density lipoprotein in human plasma. *J Clin Invest 98*: 800-814, 1996

Palinski, W., Tangirala, R. K., Miller, E., Young, S. G., and Witztum, J. L.: Increased autoantibody titers against epitopes of oxidized LDL in LDL receptor-deficient mice with increased atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15*: 1569-1576, 1995

Palinski, W. and Witztum, J. L.: Immune responses to oxidative neoepitopes on LDL and phospholipids modulate the development of atherosclerosis. *J Intern Med 247:* 371-380, 2000

Palinski, W., Yla-Herttuala, S., Rosenfeld, M. E., Butler, S. W., Socher, S. A., Parthasarathy, S., Curtiss, L. K., and Witztum, J. L.: Antisera and monoclonal antibodies specific for epitopes generated during oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein. *Arteriosclerosis 10:* 325-335, 1990

Pangborn, M.: A new serologically active phospholipid from beef heart. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 48:* 484-486, 1941

Pentikäinen, M. O., Öörni, K., Ala-Korpela, M., and Kovanen, P. T.: Modified LDL - trigger of atherosclerosis and inflammation in the arterial intima. *J Intern Med 247:* 359-370, 2000

Puurunen, M., Manttari, M., Manninen, V., Tenkanen, L., Alfthan, G., Ehnholm, C., Vaarala, O., Aho, K., and Palosuo, T.: Antibody against oxidized low-density lipoprotein predicting myocardial infarction. *Arch Intern Med* 154: 2605-2609, 1994

Qiao, J. H., Castellani, L. W., Fishbein, M. C., and Lusis, A. J.: Immune-complexmediated vasculitis increases coronary artery lipid accumulation in autoimmuneprone MRL mice. *Arterioscler Thromb 13*: 932-943, 1993

Raitakari, O. T., Pitkanen, O. P., Lehtimaki, T., Lahdenpera, S., Iida, H., Yla-Herttuala, S., Luoma, J., Mattila, K., Nikkari, T., Taskinen, M. R., Viikari, J. S., and Knuuti, J.: In vivo low density lipoprotein oxidation relates to coronary reactivity in young men. *J Am Coll Cardiol 30*: 97-102, 1997

Rittner, C., Hauptmann, G., Grosse-Wilde, H., Grosshans, E., Tongio, M. M., and Mayer, S.: Linkage between HLA (major histocompatibility complex) and genes

controlling the synthesis of that fourth component of complement. *In* F. Kissmeyer-Nielsen (ed.): *Histocompatibility Testing*, pp. 945, Munksgard, Copenhagen, 1975

Ross, R.: The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. *Nature 362*: 801-809, 1993

Ross, R.: Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. *N Engl J Med 340:* 115-126, 1999

Ross, R. and Glomset, J. A.: Atherosclerosis and the arterial smooth muscle cell: Proliferation of smooth muscle is a key event in the genesis of the lesions of atherosclerosis. *Science 180*: 1332-1339, 1973

Sadler, J. E.: von Willebrand factor. J Biol Chem 266: 22777-80., 1991

Saikku, P.: Chlamydia pneumoniae and atherosclerosis--an update. *Scand J Infect Dis Suppl 104:* 53-56, 1997

Saikku, P., Leinonen, M., Mattila, K., Ekman, M. R., Nieminen, M. S., Makela, P. H., Huttunen, J. K., and Valtonen, V.: Serological evidence of an association of a novel Chlamydia, TWAR, with chronic coronary heart disease and acute myocardial infarction. *Lancet 2*: 983-986, 1988

Salonen, J. T., Nyyssönen, K., Salonen, R., Porkkala-Sarataho, E., Tuomainen, T. P., Diczfalusy, U., and Björkhem, I.: Lipoprotein oxidation and progression of carotid atherosclerosis. *Circulation 95:* 840-845, 1997

Salonen, J. T., Ylä-Herttuala, S., Yamamoto, R., Butler, S., Korpela, H., Salonen, R., Nyyssönen, K., Palinski, W., and Witztum, J. L.: Autoantibody against oxidised LDL and progression of carotid atherosclerosis. *Lancet 339*: 883-887, 1992

Schifferli, J. A., Ng, Y. C., and Peters, D. K.: The role of complement and its receptor in the elimination of immune complexes. *N Engl J Med 315*: 488-495, 1986

Shih, P. T., Elices, M. J., Fang, Z. T., Ugarova, T. P., Strahl, D., Territo, M. C., Frank, J. S., Kovach, N. L., Cabanas, C., Berliner, J. A., and Vora, D. K.: Minimally modified low-density lipoprotein induces monocyte adhesion to endothelial connecting segment-1 by activating beta1 integrin. *J Clin Invest 103:* 613-625, 1999

Smith, G. W., McArthur, C. J., and Simpson, I. J.: Circulating immune complexes in myocardial infarction. *J Clin Lab Immunol 12*: 197-199, 1983

Stary, H. C.: Evolution and progression of atherosclerotic lesions in coronary arteries of children and young adults. *Arteriosclerosis 9:* I19-132, 1989

Stary, H. C.: The sequence of cell and matrix changes in atherosclerotic lesions of coronary arteries in the first forty years of life. *Eur Heart J 11 Suppl E*: 3-19, 1990

Stary, H. C., Chandler, A. B., Glagov, S., Guyton, J. R., Insull, W., Jr., Rosenfeld, M. E., Schaffer, S. A., Schwartz, C. J., Wagner, W. D., and Wissler, R. W.: A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the

Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. *Circulation 89:* 2462-2478, 1994

Steffen, C., Bohm, H., and Menzel, J.: [Immune complexes in myocardial infarct]. *Wien Klin Wochenschr* 98: 161-165, 1986

Steinberg, D.: Lewis A. Conner Memorial Lecture. Oxidative modification of LDL and atherogenesis. *Circulation 95:* 1062-1071, 1997a

Steinberg, D.: Low density lipoprotein oxidation and its pathobiological significance. *J Biol Chem* 272: 20963-20966, 1997b

Steinberg, D., Parthasarathy, S., Carew, T. E., Khoo, J. C., and Witztum, J. L.: Beyond cholesterol. Modifications of low-density lipoprotein that increase its atherogenicity. *N Engl J Med 320*: 915-924, 1989

Steinberg, D. and Witztum, J. L.: Lipoproteins, Lipoprotein, Oxidation, and Atherosclerosis. W B Saunders Co., Philadelphia, 1999

Steinbrecher, U. P., Parthasarathy, S., Leake, D. S., Witztum, J. L., and Steinberg, D.: Modification of low density lipoprotein by endothelial cells involves lipid peroxidation and degradation of low density lipoprotein phospholipids. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 81:* 3883-3887, 1984

Stemme, S., Faber, B., Holm, J., Wiklund, O., Witztum, J. L., and Hansson, G. K.: T lymphocytes from human atherosclerotic plaques recognize oxidized low density lipoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:* 3893-3897, 1995

Thompson, S. G., Kienast, J., Pyke, S. D., Haverkate, F., and van de Loo, J. C.: Hemostatic factors and the risk of myocardial infarction or sudden death in patients with angina pectoris. European Concerted Action on Thrombosis and Disabilities Angina Pectoris Study Group. *N Engl J Med 332*: 635-641, 1995

Truedsson, L., Awdeh, Z., Yunis, E. J., Mrose, S., Moore, B., and Alper, C. A.: Quantitative variation of C4 variant proteins associated with many MHC haplotypes. *Immunogenetics 30:* 414-421, 1989

Tsimikas, S., Palinski, W., Halpern, S. E., Yeung, D. W., Curtiss, L. K., and Witztum, J. L.: Radiolabeled MDA2, an oxidation-specific, monoclonal antibody, identifies native atherosclerotic lesions in vivo. *J Nucl Cardiol 6:* 41-53, 1999

Tsimikas, S., Shortal, B. P., Witztum, J. L., and Palinski, W.: In vivo uptake of radiolabeled MDA2, an oxidation-specific monoclonal antibody, provides an accurate measure of atherosclerotic lesions rich in oxidized LDL and is highly sensitive to their regression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:* 689-697, 2000

Tsimikas, S. and Witztum, J. L.: The oxidative modification hypothesis of atherosclerosis. *In J. F. Keaney (ed.): Oxidative stress and vascular Disease.*, pp. 49-74, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, Mass, 2000

Tsimikas, S. and Witztum, J. L.: Measuring circulating oxidized low-density lipoprotein to evaluate coronary risk. *Circulation 103*: 1930-1932, 2001

Uusitupa, M. I., Niskanen, L., Luoma, J., Vilja, P., Mercuri, M., Rauramaa, R., and Ylä-Herttuala, S.: Autoantibodies against oxidized LDL do not predict atherosclerotic vascular disease in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 16*: 1236-1242, 1996

Vaarala, O.: Antibodies to oxidised LDL. Lupus 9: 202-205, 2000a

Vaarala, O.: Autoantibodies to modified LDLs and other phospholipid-protein complexes as markers of cardiovascular diseases. *J Intern Med 247:* 381-384, 2000b

Vaarala, O., Alfthan, G., Jauhiainen, M., Leirisalo-Repo, M., Aho, K., and Palosuo, T.: Crossreaction between antibodies to oxidised low-density lipoprotein and to cardiolipin in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lancet 341*: 923-925, 1993

Vaarala, O., Manttari, M., Manninen, V., Tenkanen, L., Puurunen, M., Aho, K., and Palosuo, T.: Anti-cardiolipin antibodies and risk of myocardial infarction in a prospective cohort of middle-aged men. *Circulation 91:* 23-27, 1995

Vaarala, O., Puurunen, M., Manttari, M., Manninen, V., Aho, K., and Palosuo, T.: Antibodies to prothrombin imply a risk of myocardial infarction in middle-aged men. *Thromb Haemost* 75: 456-459, 1996

van de Vijver, L. P., Steyger, R., van Poppel, G., Boer, J. M., Kruijssen, D. A., Seidell, J. C., and Princen, H. M.: Autoantibodies against MDA-LDL in subjects with severe and minor atherosclerosis and healthy population controls. *Atherosclerosis 122*: 245-253, 1996

Vayssairat, M., Abuaf, N., Gaitz, J. P., and Baudot, N.: Antiphospholipids--a "guilty ghost" syndrome [editorial]. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 13*: 1-4, 1995

Versey, J. M. and Gabriel, R.: Soluble-complex formation after myocardial infarction. *Lancet 2*: 493-494, 1974

Virella, G., Virella, I., Leman, R. B., Pryor, M. B., and Lopes-Virella, M. F.: Antioxidized low-density lipoprotein antibodies in patients with coronary heart disease and normal healthy volunteers. *Int J Clin Lab Res 23*: 95-101, 1993

Wight, T. N.: The extracellular matrix and atherosclerosis. *Curr Opin Lipidol 6:* 326-334, 1995

Wight, T. N.: The vascular extracellular matrix. *In* V. Fuster, R. Ross, and E. J. Topol (eds.): *Atherosclerosis and Coronary Artery Disease.*, pp. 421-440, Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Philadelphia, 1996

Williams, K. J. and Tabas, I.: The response-to-retention hypothesis of early atherogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:* 551-561, 1995

Wissler, R. W., Vesselinovitch, D., and Ko, C.: The effects of circulating immune complexes on atherosclerotic lesions in experimental animals and in younger and older humans. *Transplant Proc 21*: 3707-3708, 1989

Witztum, J. L.: The oxidation hypothesis of atherosclerosis. Lancet 344: 793-5., 1994

Witztum, J. L. and Palinski, W.: Autoimmunity to oxidized lipoproteins. *In* G. H. Hansson and P. Libby (eds.): *Immune functions of the vessel wall.*, pp. 159-171, Harwood academic publishers, Amsterdam, 1996

Witztum, J. L., Steinbrecher, U. P., Kesaniemi, Y. A., and Fisher, M.: Autoantibodies to glucosylated proteins in the plasma of patients with diabetes mellitus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 81*: 3204-3208, 1984

Wu, R. and Lefvert, A. K.: Autoantibodies against oxidized low density lipoproteins (oxLDL): characterization of antibody isotype, subclass, affinity and effect on the macrophage uptake of oxLDL. *Clin Exp Immunol 102:* 174-180, 1995

Wu, R., Nityanand, S., Berglund, L., Lithell, H., Holm, G., and Lefvert, A. K.: Antibodies against cardiolipin and oxidatively modified LDL in 50-year- old men predict myocardial infarction. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 17: 3159-3163, 1997

Ylä-Herttuala, S., Palinski, W., Butler, S. W., Picard, S., Steinberg, D., and Witztum, J. L.: Rabbit and human atherosclerotic lesions contain IgG that recognizes epitopes of oxidized LDL. *Arterioscler Thromb 14:* 32-40, 1994

Yusuf, H. R., Giles, W. H., Croft, J. B., Anda, R. F., and Casper, M. L.: Impact of multiple risk factor profiles on determining cardiovascular disease risk. *Prev Med 27:* 1-9, 1998

Zhang, W., Voice, J., and Lachmann, P. J.: A systematic study of neutrophil degranulation and respiratory burst in vitro by defined immune complexes. *Clin Exp Immunol 101:* 507-514, 1995

Zhang, W. J., Kay, P. H., Cobain, T. J., and Dawkins, R. L.: C4 allotyping on plasma or serum: application to routine laboratories. *Hum Immunol 21*: 165-171, 1988

Zhou, X., Paulsson, G., Stemme, S., and Hansson, G. K.: Hypercholesterolemia is associated with a T helper (Th) 1/Th2 switch of the autoimmune response in atherosclerotic apo E-knockout mice. *J Clin Invest 101*: 1717-1725, 1998

Zlatkis, A., Zak, B., and Boyle, A. J.: New method for direct determination of serum cholesterol. *J Lab Clin Med 41*: 486-492, 1953

Årfors, L. and Lefvert, A. K.: Enrichment of antibodies against phospholipids in circulating immune complexes (CIC) in the anti-phospholipid syndrome (APLS). *Clin Exp Immunol 108:* 47-51, 1997

Årfors, L., Winiarski, J., and Lefvert, A. K.: Prevalence of antibodies to cardiolipin in chronic ITP and reactivity with platelet membranes. *Eur J Haematol 56:* 230-234, 1996